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The Grand Tury charges:

INTRODUCTION

1. The Commonwealth of Puerto Rico’s financial sector is comprised of
commercial banks, savings and loan assoclations, securities finns, international banking
entities, and other financial institutions. inancial institutions operating i Puerto Rico are
subect [0 both federal and Puerto Rico laws and regulations. The Office of the Commissioner
of Fmancial Institutions of Puerte Rieo (“OCIF") supervises and regudates the banking system
1 Puerto Rico, OCTF ensures the safety and soundness of Pucrto Rico’s financial sector, and
cnsures that financial institutions in Puerto Rico comply with numerous laws and regulations.
It does so by, among other things, conducting examinations to cvaluate financiat institulions’
compliance with federal and state regidations. OCIF 15 led by a Commissioner who oversces
all of its operations, including its examinations of Puerto Ricn’s financial institutions. The
Commissinoner of OCIF 15 appomnted by the governor of Puerta Rico.

2, The Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA™) and regulations promudgated thereunder seek
o prevent money [aundering through financial institutions. Amonag other requirements, the
BSA requires financial institutions o reporl suspicious iransactions through the filing of
Suspicious Actvity Reports (“SARs™) with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Nebwork of
the U.5. Department of Treasury (“FinCEN"™) on, among other things, “any suspicious
fransaction relevant to a possible violation of law or regulation.”  FinCEN has oversH
authority for enforeement of the BSA.

3. The governor of Fuerto Rico is the popularly-clected head of government of the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rice. The Constitution of Puoerto Rico provides for, in certain

situations, the elevation of certain cabinet-level officials to the position of governor without
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an election. Llections for governor ol Puerlo Rico are held every four years. The year 2020
was a gubernatorial election year in Puerto Rico.

4, Beginnig m 2019 and continuing through 2021, JULIO M. RERRERA
YELUTINI, the owner of an international bank located in Puerto Rico, along with his co-
conspirators, sought to interfere with the iunctions of both OCIF and FinCEN by paying
bribes to public officials they believed had the power to intervene on the bank's Tehalf
Specifically, in 2020, HERRERA, MARK T. ROSSINI, and others conspired to pay
thousands of dollars to then-Governor WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED, through payments
to third parties that would support VAZQUEZ?s election, with the intent of infiucncing her
to remove a Commissioner of OCIIN and replace him with an individual hand-picked by
HERRERA. Then, in 2021, HERRERA and others ennspired to pay thousands of dollars o
a second public official 1 the executive branch of the government of Puerto Rica, throwgh
payments 1o a close associate that would support the public official's election, with the intent
of influcnemg him 10 end QCIE's exammation of HERRERA’s international bank and to
allow the bank to avoid its obligation to report suspicious activity to FImCEN.

RELEVANT INTHVIIUALS AND ENTITIES

AL all times material to this ledictment:

3. “The Bank™ was an international bank, classified as an International Banking
Entity {"IBE"} under Puerto Rico's International Banking Center Eesulatory Act of 1988,
The Bank was licensed as an 13E by OCIF, Az an 1BE, The Bank was only authorized to
provige services to customers outside of Puerto Rico, mcuding banks and other financial
institutions. [Bliz are cligible to open branches in the United States ouiside of Puerto Rico,
and they can be granted access to the Federal Reserve Wire Transfer Network (“Tedwire™},
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the real-time gross settlement system operated by the Federal Reserve Bank that allows
participanis o transfer funds electronically between institutions. The Bank was subject (0
certain provisions of the BSA, including the requirerment o file SARs. The Bank was wholly-
owned by a holding corporation (“The ITolding Corporation™) organived in San Juan, Puerto
Faco. The Banle conducted business with corporations located m New York, Florida,
Panama, the Tahamas, and elsewhere,

6. JULIO M. HERRFRA YELUTINI controlled and ultimately owned The
Bank and the Holding Corporation. HERRERA was the principal shareholder of the Holding
Corporation.  HEBRRERA was the Chairman of the Bank's Board of Pirectors and had
anthority and control over the Bank, HERRERA was a foreign national and not a citizen or
legal permancnt resident of the United States.

7. WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED was the Govemor of Poerto Rico from
Avgust of 2009 uniit Janwary of 2021, VAZQUEZ becamc the (Governor afier her
predecessor resigned. VAZQUEZ's official vesponsibilities as Governor induded oversceing
various agencies of the government of Puerta Rico and selecting, nominating, and appointing
heads of such agencies, including OCIF., YAZQUEZ, owed a fiduciary duty to Puerio Kico
and Iis citizens to perform the duties and responsibilities of her office free from self
enrichment, deceit, concealment, and conflict between her personal interests and the Interests
of the citizens she served. On or about December 148, 20HY, VAZQUEZ announced that she
was running in the 2020 gubernatorial clection in Poerto Rico,

g. MARK T. ROSSINI was a Special Ageni with the Federal Bureaw of
Investigation from m or around 1991 until in or around 2008, Following his separation from

governmenl service, ROSSINI owned and operated a professional consulting scrvice,  His
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cliemts mcluded HERRERA.

g Pubbic Offtcial A won the 2020 gubematorial election in Puerto Rico and
hecame the Governor in Janoary of 2021,

10. OCIF Commissioner A served as Commmissioner of OCIF from m or around
July 2017 until VAZQUEZ forced him to resign on or around February 28, 2020,

11, OCIF Commissioncr B was appointed by VAZQUEZ as the Commissioner of
{OCH moor around May 2020, He formetly worked for The Bank as a consultant,

12, Trances M. Diaz (“Diaz™) was the President and Chief Execotive Cificer of
The Bank.

13, John Blakeman (“i3lakeman™) was a political consultant located in Puerio
Rico. Blakeman served as a political advisor to VAZQUEZ duiing her tenwre a5 Governor.

14, Individual A was VAZQUEZ's Deputy Chief of Siaif,

15, Imdividual B was VAZQUEZ s Executive Assistant.

18, Indsndual C was an investor residing in Puerto REico.

17, Individual I¥ was an advisar to VAZOQUEZ while she was the Governor of
Pucrto Rico.

18, The Internationai Consulting Firn was an mtemational political consulting
and tobbying [irm with olfices in the United States, the United Kingdom, Australia, and
clsewhere.

19, International Consufling Firm-Pariner 1 was the Founding Director of
Intemational Consulting Firm's predecessor firm.

20 International Consulting I'irm-Partner 2 was the finm's Chief Global Projects

Officer.



21, Political Consuliant A was a political consuliant and authar.  Political
Consultant A managed and advised presidential, gubernatorial, and prime ministerizl
candidate campalgns 10 the United States and around the world.

22 SuperPAC T was an independent expenditure-only political action committee
established by Political Consultant A to support the 2020 gubernatorial clection campaign of
VAZQUEZ.

23, SuperPAC 2 was an indepemdent expenditure-anly political action commilies
established by Witness 1 to support the 2020 and 2024 gubcrnatorial cleetion campaigns of
Public Offtcial A.

24, Winess | wasz the owner of a Washington, D.C.-based accounting and
consuliing firm, who also set vp mdependent expenditure-only political action cormmittees.
A political action committee is a pelilical commitice organized for the purpesc of raising and
spending moncy o clect or defeat candidates. An independent expenditure is money spent
that 1y expressly advocates the election or defeat of a parti.cuhlr candidaie and that 2) 15 not
made in concert or cooperalion with the candidate or the candidate’s agents. An independent
cxpeaditure-only  polifical action committee  (“SuperPAC™} solely rases money for
mdependent expenditures. o or around May 2020, Witness 1 registered SuperPAC 2 to
support the election campaigns of Public Official A, Withess 1 established SuperT?AC 2 betore
he began operatmg at the directon of {ederal law enforcement officials. Witness 1 engaged
in the ather conduct described below at the direction of federal law enforcement authorities,

THFE OCTF EXAMINATION OF THE BANK

25, In or around July 2012, OCIF Commissioner A miliated an examination of

The Bank. The examination concluded on or around September 18, 2020, The examination
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identified numerous areas at The Bank that OCIE determined required corrective action.
Among other things, OCIVF identified doxens of financial transaciions that The Bank
conducted on behalf of its custoimers that OCIEF deemed suspicious and that The Banlk did
not report by filing SARs required by the BSA. Several of these financial transactions
invalved bank accounts and entities owned or controlled by The Bank's vltimate owner,
IIERRERA. HERRERA, Dlaz, and The Bank were aware that The Bank was obligated
under the BSA to report suspiciouns financial transactions by filing SARs.

26, A negative exammation by OCIE could have had adverse consequences for
‘The Banlg, including requiring The Banl to talee corrective action, subjecting 'I'he Bank (o an
enforcemnent action by OCIF that could melude financal penaltties, negatively impacting The
Bank's ability 1o ohtain and maintain full access to Fedwire, and potentially resulting in the
loss of The Bank's license to operate as an IBE.

COUNT 1
Conspiracy
18 U.5.C. 8371
(WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED, JUL1O M. HERRERA VELUTINI,
and MAREK T. ROSSINT}

27, The preceding paragraphs of thas Inchotment are re-alleged and incorporated in
this Count.

23, In each of the calendar years 2019 and 2020, the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico was a territory which received more than $10,0(4) in benefits from the United States
sovernment under federal programs mvolving gramts, subsidies, [oans, guarantecs, Nsurance,
and other forms of assistance.

29, From in or around December 2019 tuough in or around June 2020, in the

Disirict of Muerto Rico and elsewhere, defendanis WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED, JTULID
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M. HERRERA VELUTINI, and MARK T. ROSSINI did knowingly and williully conspite

and agree together and with each other and others, both known and unknown o the Grand

Jury, to comrmt offcnses against the United States, inchiding:

a)

b)

frr HERRERA and ROSSINI to corruptly give, offer, and agree to give things of
value, that is thousands of dollars m fundimg in support of VAZQUEZ's election
campaign, to VAZQUEZ, ihe Governor and an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico, with the intent of nfluencing and rewarding VAZQUEZ, in connection with
any business, transaction, and series of wansactions of the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico valued at $5,000 or more, 1o wit: (he termination of QCIF Commissioner A and
the appointment OCIEF Commissioner B, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666{a)(2); and
for VAZOQUEZ, the Governor and an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, to
corruptly solicit, demand, accept, and agree to accept for her own benefit, things of
vahue, that iz thouwsands of doblars in funding in suppornt of VAZIYUEZLs election
campaign, ftrom HERRERA and ROSSINI, intending io be influcnced and rewarded,
In commectiun with any bosiness, transaction, aod senies of transactons of the
Comtoaonwealth of Pucrto Rico valued at §5,000 or more, to wit: the termination of
QOCIF Commussioner A and the appointment of QCIF Coinyussioner B, i violation
of 18 1U.5.C. § 666{a)1)(13).

Porposc of the Conspiracy

30.  The purpose of the conspiracy wclwded, bul was not limited 1o, HERRERA,

ROSSINI and otheis, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, offering bribes m the forin of

things of value, specifically, lunding in support of YALZQUEZ's clection campaign, in

cxchange for the specific acts of VAZQUEZ terminating a Comoxssioner of OCIF and

O
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appaointing a new Conunissioner of IIERRERA's choosing.
Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

3l1. Between approximately December 2019 and approximately Tune 2020,
HERRERA, ROSSINI, and thetr co-conspitators, gave, offered, and promised things of value
to VAZQUEZ, including payments to the Intemational Consulong Fam, Political
Consultant 4., and SuperPAC 1, each of which would support VAZQUEZ's effotls (o win
the 2020 gubernatorial election m Puerto Rico, in exchange for specific acts favorable
HERRERA and The Bank, mcluding VAZQUEZ termmnating OCIF Commissioner A and
appointing a ncw Conmumissioner of HERRERA's choosing, OCIF Comumissioner B,

32. Between approximately December 2009 and June 2020, HERRERA,
ROSSINI, and their co-conspirators met with VAZQUEZ in the Dhistrict of Puerto Rico to
discuss HERRERA's request o remove (CIF Commussioner A and appoint a new
Commissioner in exchange for HERRERA's bribes.

33. HERRERA, ROSSINI, VAZQUEZ, amd their co-conspirators secrefly
communicated with each other directly and through intermediaries via text message, email,
and mternel-based messaging applications, and during in-person mectings, to discuss aspects
of the agreement to pay bribes to VAZQUEZ!

34,  HERBRERA and ROSSINI were aware that Diax, The Bank's president, had a
personal relationship with Blakeman and that Blakeman had a central role m YAZQUEZ's
election campaign. HERRERA and ROSSIMNL used Diax, Blakeman, and others as

intermediarics of VAZQUEZ and members of her admimistration, VAZOQUEZ and members

' Through the remainder of Uns Indictment, the term “text message” 15 used fo inchide messages scit
on all messagng applications.
110



of her admindstration, in wirn, vsed 13iax, Blakeman, and others as messengers to HERRERA
RGSSM, and their co-conspirators.

35, HERRERA and others paid for political consulting scrvices to bencfit
VAZOUEZ's election campaigm.

36.  HERRERA and oihers conccaled the illegal and corrupt purpose of the bribes
paid to benefit VAZQUEZ by fumneling certain payments for political consulting services
ihrough bank accounts held by ROSSING and third parties.

Owvert Acts in Faviberance of the Conspitacy

Herrera and Rossind Seek OCTE Commissioner A's Removal

aT On or about December 15, 2019, HERRERA sent a series of text messages to
I Maz that said, wanslated from Spanish to English, “T spolee with John ast night! 3ust enter
Fortaleza® and support the new governor” and “use a paving roller over OCIF and build a
new structure that regulates and docsn't persecuie the banks and change documents or
fabiicate documents™ against the bankmg mdustry.

38, On or about December 17, 2019, HERRERA sent Blakeman a lext message
containing a link to the International Consulting Firn's website and exchanged text messages
with Blakeman about how the [nternational Consulting Firm could make their “friend” win.
Blakeman responded to HERRERA | translated from Spanish to Eoglish, that “[wle'll present
{the information (¢ him/her| when you get here. In the meantime, T will present the
information to the campaign group.”

39 (O orabount December 18, 2009, Individual A sent a text message to Individual

! 9a Fortaleza™ refers to the alficis] residence and excoutive office of the governor al Pocrto Rico,
11
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C to let Individval C know that VAZOUEZ would be attending Individual C's wedding.
Individeal € responded by writing that he would he scating VAZQUEZ with three
ballionaives. Imdividual C then sent Individual A internet links and a sareenshot providing
mivrmation about the three purparied billionares, ncluding HERRERA.

40,  In or around Janonary 2020, HERBERA told Blakeman that he wanted OCIEF
Commissioner A ternvinated from his positon, and thal ie (HERRERA) wanied Blakeman
to convey his dissatisfaction with OCIF Commissioner A divectly to VAZQUEZ,

41, On or about January 3, 2020, HERRERA sent a texl message 10 ROSSINE
cxpressing his frustration with OCIEF's examinationn of The Bank., ROSSINI responded, in
part, that OCIF would “pay dearly.”

43, On or abouot January 4, 2020, HERRIERA attcnded Tndividual C's wedding
and was seated at the same lable as VAZOQUEZ., When Blakeman sent a (exl message,
translated from Spanish to English, to HERRERA during the wedding and asserted that
VAZQUEZ would win i slie had “the support from vou all,” HERRERA respemded,
translated from Spanish to English, “She has it!! In thas table she already bas 2MM,"” then
later wrote, “but she has to resobve OCIL"

43, On or about January 6, 2020, ROSSINI wrote in a text message to
Internattonal Consulling Firm-Partner 1, “Pll be in Puerte Rico next weck for 2 days with
Julio to meet the governor, I know he saw her thos past weekend and she wants t0 see him
next weelk. [ know she is keen on [the International Consulting Firmt.”

44, On ar about Janvary 7, 2020, HERRERA emailed International Consuliing
Firm-Partner 1, “'1 will have next week a meeting with the gobernadora [Ygovernor™} of Puerto

Fico PR to present My support and follow the comversation we had on the 4 of January with

12



her. . ,” and that he would “hke to preseni [the International Consulting I'inm] to her and
hew much we can do for her ™

45, On or about January 14, 2020, HERRERA wrate 1 4 text message €0 D,
translated from Spanish to Lnglish, “The solution is to fire the people who have kidnapped -
the Caf and prt m an Interim Commissioner thal forms an International Banking Reform
Board. . "

46, {n or about January 14, 2020, HERRERA, Diaz, and Blakeman rnet with
VAZQUEZ at Fortaleza, located 1n San Juan, Pucrto Ricn.

47, On or about Janovary 15, 2020, the day after HERRERA, Diaz, and Blakeman
met with VAZQUEZ at her office, ROSSINI exchanged (ext messages with International
Consulting Firm-Parincr 1. ROSSINI wrote, i part, that “the Governor wants [the
International Consulting Firm]” and that HERRERA would pay for it “Some campaign
finances will pay for your services. The bulk will be paid by Julio.”

48.  On our about J anliary i5, 2020, ROSSINI rciterated to the partners at the
International Consulling I'irm that HERRERA would be paymg for then services, emailing
International Consulting Firm-Partner 1 and Tnternational Consulting Firm-Parter 2, in part,
“As an update Julio IT., met with the current Governar and her Chiel of Staft yesterday. ‘The
Governor 15 very excited aboul the prospect of otilizing [the International Consultmg Firm]
for her re-clection campaign,” and “[flhe campaign is actively raising funds, and will pay tor
a portion of [the International Consulting Firm's services. The bulk of the payment will be
donc by Julio H., and similarly wealthy mdividuals here whom are creating a super PAC.
Julio H. will personally {und anything which is not covered by the campaign or PAC”

49, On or about January 20, 2020, ROSSINI sent a text message to an individual

i3
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- unidentified by the Grand Jury explainmg that HERRERA, Individual C, and onc other

individual would “finance the campaign for the Governor in PR™ and that “when they hire
{the Internalional Consulting Firm} for the campaign, [the International Consulting Fim)
will hirc me to be the liaison between [the Infermational Consulting Firm} and the campaign,”

50, Iz or ayound January 2020, Blakeman, acting at the direction nf HERRERA,
told VAZQUEZ during onc or more in-person meetings in the District of Puerto Rico that
The Bank wanted OCIF Commissioner A removed from his position.

al. I or around Janoary 2020, HERRERA, ROSSINI, and others retained the
[nternational Consulting Finn to comduct polling and research 10 benefit VAZQUEZ's
candidacy in the vpeoming election.

52, In or around Jamoary 2020, Blakeman, acting at the direction: of YAZQUEZ,
mfvrmed [haz that YVAZQUEZ's administration necded The Bank to provide the name of
someone to teplace OCIF Commdssioner A,

3. On or about Janvary 21, 2020, ROSSINI emailed International Censulting
Finn-Partner 2, confummg the date that e Internationat Consulting Firm would provide a
presentation of theiv services (o VAZQUEZ: “28™ of Pebroary (Friday) in the latter part of
the day, is confinmed tor the [International Consulting Firm| presentation to the Governor.”

o4, On or about January 22, 2020, HERRERA senf a text message to Diaz that
read, translated from Spanish to English, “[individual C| asks that WV wanied to know who
to putin Ocif)” Later in the conversation, HERRER A also told Diaz, translated from Spanish
to English, “Throw out [OCIF Commissioner A]L”

55, On or about January 29, 2020, Individual A wrote i a ext message 10

Blakeman, translated from Spanish to English, “Working GCIF wiih |[VAZQUEZ's Chiel of
14
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36. On or aboot January 29, 2020, Tnternational Consulting Firm-Pariner 2
cmailed HERRERA, with ROSSINI carbon-copicd, asking to which entily and address their
mvoice for research should be sent. HERRERA responded by providing the name and
address of a corporate entity related to The Bank.

57. O or abowt January 30, 2020, Diaz wrote I a text message to HERRERA
that she had been told that OCIF Commuissioner A wias going to be termimated soon.

58. On or about February 3, 20241 Blakeman wrote m a (ext rnessage to Diaz,
translated from Spanish to English, that Blakeman had called l'ortalcza and had been
mformmed that “G's instruction was given,” referring to VAZOUEZ's instroction to her stall
to terminate OCIEF Commissioner A.

a4, Cn or aboul February 5, 2020, Diaz asked Blakeman, in a text message
translated from Spanish to IEnglish, whether anyone twld Blakeman “when they will be
execoting the mstruchions,” referring to the termmation of OCIF Commissioner A,

6t On or abogt February 6, 2020, Diay wrole in a lext inessage (0 HERRERA,
translated from Spamish to English, that Individual A had told Blakeman that “the lady” had
aIréad}r aiven I.'lﬂl" instruction to the Chicf of Stall’and that the frst thing she would do when
she got back to the office was to call him.

61, Onorabout February 7, 2020, Blakeman asked individual A, via text message,
when OCIF Commissioner A was leaving his position.

62, Inoraround Febroary 2020, HERRER A, ROSSINI, Blakeman, Individual C,
and others arranged for the Internatiomal Consulting Finm to present its capabilines and
research to VAZQUEZ on Felruary 28, 2020, al a hotel m the Condado area of San Juan,

15
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Puerto Rico.

3. O or abowt Felmuary 11, 2020, Individual C sent o text message to Indrvidual
A thal read, “Don't forget, big meeting 28(", and “She is rcady for another 8 years 127
Individual A replied, “On Agendalt”

64, On oor about February 11, 2020, Individual A wrote in a text message o
VYAZQUEL's Chief of Staff, translated from Spanish to English, I wanted to check with you
it vou talked with [OCIF Commissioner A from QCIF#?Y

65 On or abowt Febroary 12, 2020, Individual A wrote in a fext message o
VAZQUEZ s Chief of Staft that Individual A wanted o know about [OCIF Commissioner
A because VAZYUEZ had asked her,

66,  On or about Febraary 20, 2020, Blakeman told Individual A and others in a
lext message that the International Consulting Iirm’s work for VAZQUEZ's eleclion
campaign cost HERRERA five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000).

67, On or abowt Febroary 22, 2020, Individual A wrote in a fext message o
Individual B, translated from Spamish to English, “come here please. | told Blakeman the one
from OCIL will end on Vriday Febroary 277

68.  On or about February 23, 2020, Individval C sent VAZQUEZ and Individual
A a presentation preparcd by the International Consulting I'inm entitled “{Internationat
Consulting Firm)] Campaign Support Proposal for Governor Wanda Vazguez,”

69. On or about February 24, 2020, Tndividual C forwarded to Individual A a
message sent from HERRERA to Individual C in which HERRERA wrote, "Well T am
meeting {a partner from the Intematiomal Consulting Firm] at 300 pim We need to confirm
the meeting since we are 5 people crossing the Atlaniic io meel her and we alsa need her

11



support for the Octf situation that can no longer wait 1! Please talk to the Governor if necessary
but we should not spend money, Time and Effort m people that do not need our belp!! Best
Begards.™

70, Cm or about February 24, 2020, HERRERA and Diaz cxchanged text messages
about OCIF Commissioner A's pending termination, with Diaz writing, translaled from
Spamish to Hoghsh, “|OCIF Commuissioner Al 15 supposed to leave next Friday last day of the
month,” HERRERA respomgled, (ranslated firons Spanish to English, “That is the day of the
meeting with WB " refeiring to VAZQUEZ, and “28 [')" referring io M'ebroary 28, 2020, Diaz
later replicd, translated from Spanish to Unglish, “They already spoke with him and he is
ending the month,” refermng to OCIF Commissioner A.

7. In oand around February 2020, VAZOUEZ, Blakeman, Individual A,
Individual B, and others inet at Tortaleza to discuss HERRERA’s offer (o {inancally support
YAZQUEZ's clection campaign in exchange for VAZQUEZ terminating OCIF
Commissioner A,

Vazguer lermmates QCIF Commissioner &

72, In or around the last weck of February 2020, VAZQUEZ's Chiet' of Staff
stnmoned OCIF Commissioner A to a meeting at Fortaleza, There, at VAZQUEZ's
direction, VAZQUEZ's {:‘.hi:.:f of Staff' told QCHF Commissioner & that he had (o vesign from
his position by Febroary 28, 2020,

73, On or about February 27, 2020, Indraduaal A wrote in a text message to
Individual C, “See v on friday @ opim. |Individual B2], Blakeman and [VAZQUEZ's Secreciary
of ublic Affars are commeg with ws. FYL Tuday I talked to JOCIF Commmssioner A, He's
resigining effective February 28, Tinally!”
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4. On or about Tebruary 27, 2020, HERRERA told ROSSINI, via texl message,
that OCHE Commissioner A would be “leaving” on Friday, February 28, 2020,

75, Onor abowt Pebruary 28, 2020, howrs before the scheduled mecting at the hotel
n Condado between VAZQUEZ, HERRERA, ROSSINL, members of the International
Consulting Finm, and others, Individual A forwarded a screenshot of OCIF Commissioner
A’s resignation letier o Individoal C, [ollowed by, “I'YT *heart cmoji*.”  Individoal C
responded, “Miss, See you dpml”

76, Alse on or about February 28, 2020, Individval A sent a text message to
Hlalkeman containing a photograph of OCIF Commussioner A's resignation letter,

The Mecting at a Hotel in Condada on February 28, 2020

i O the evening of Hebruary 28, 2020, VAZQUEZ met with HERRERA
ROSSINI, Blakeman, Diaz, Individual A, Individual C, and pariners from the Inlernalional
Consulting irm at a hotel in the Condado area of San Juan, Puerto Rico so that the
International Consulting I'irm could present the services it could offer VAZQUEZ i support
of her gubernatorial campaign.

78. Priow to the meeting, Blakeran seni a group text message to Individual A,
Individual 12, and a third individual, asking to delay the start of the meeting. In response,
Individual A wrote that they must start at 6 p.an., and that once the meeting started, nobody
would be able 1o enter.

76.  During the February 28, 2020 meeting, (he partners from the Iniernational
Consuliting Firm gave a presentation of the services it could offer to VAZOQUEZ in support of
her election campaign, including research and campaign stralegy formaulation.

80.  Duoring the l‘chroary 28, 2020 meeting or shortly thereafter, Blakeman
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mformed VAZQUEZ that ITIERRERA paid for or would be paying for the internalional
Consulting I'irm’s services to benelit VAZQUEZ's upcormng election campalgn.

81, Durmg the Iebroary 28, 2020 meeting, HERRERA, ROSSINI, and others
discussed creating a SupcrPAC in supporl VAZQUEZ s election campaign,

a2, O or about February 28, 2020, hours after tire meeting at the hotel in
Condado, YAZQUEZ sent a text message to Individual A, translated from Spanish to
English, asking for the name of “the guy from the FBL.” Individual A responded, “Mark
Fossini,” followed by three *lips sealed® cmaoyis,

Hesrera Picks OCTIF Comnmssioner B to Eeplace QCIIF Commissioner A

g3.  Beginming in or around February 2020, HERRERA and others from The Bank,
through mtermediaries, including Blakeman, communicated o VAZQUEZ that they wanted
VAZQUEZ (o appomt OCIF Commissioner B as the new QCIT Commissioner.

g84.  On or about February 28, 2020, HERRERA sent a text message (0 Blakeman
that rcad, translated from Spanish to Eoglish, “ Dear John: Afler today’s presentation we need
15 mmutes with the lady to explain some details of the next skeps and coordinate the fingl
objective of our regulator and the people thatl acl irregulariy mside the office, In short to make
a courdmated plan of action. Of course, your presence is important in that private discussion.”
In response, Blakeman wrote to HERRERA | translated from Spanish to English, *Of course,
Count me in.”

85, On or about Felruary 29, 2020, the day afier termmation of QCIF
Commissioner A and the meeting at the hotel, HERRERA called OCHE Cormumissioner B and
aslked if be was interested in becoming Commissioner, OCIF Commissioner B then emailed

ITERRTERA his resume. BERRURA Forwarded, via text message, OCIF Caommissioner B's
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resumc o ROSSINT, wriing, “This s our men for Ocif Jab.”

B, Un or about February 29, 2020, Diax wrole in a text message to IERRER A
translated from Spanish to English, “1 think [OCIF Commissioner B] is the perfect one,, "
HERRERA later responded, translated irom Spanish to English, “[OCIF Commissioner B}
is convineed and vnderstands that this is a State problem!! We need guarantees for him and
an open line with Fortaleza but he is convinced that it’s a necessity.”

87. Chooor about March 2, 2020, IIERRERA scni a text message to Blakeman that
vead, translated from Spanish to Inglish, “With [OCIF Commissioner B's first name] we
have the banks and federal regulators calmed. This way I can dedicate time and money to
her campaign. Tomorrow [ am in San Juan and | have a call with the campaign expert from
Washington then [ travel to London to set up the long-term stratcgy.”  Minules later,
Blakenian forwarded this message 1o [ndividual A.

Hervers Hives International Consulting V'irm and Agrees to Forime SuperPAC |1

88, In or around Febroary 2020, HERRER A, through intermediaries, mdduding
Blakeman, conveyed to VAZQUEZ his willingness 10 create a SuperPAC t support her
election campaign in exchange for her removal of OCIF Commissioner A.

"y, O or about Febrvary 29, 2020, the day alter the tormination of OCIF
Commissioner A and the meeting at the hotel in Condado, ROSSEN] sent International
Consulimg Firm-Partmer 1 a text message that read, in part, “Julio agreed for the contract and
will pay [the Iniernational Consulting Firm] on Monday 250 pounds for the first phase which
15 Lhe research and thereafter the campaign at around 200 a month uniil the election n
Movember. I hope [the International Consultimg Firm] knows I ondy bring you the best
chents,”

20



%41, On or about February 29, 2020, HERRERA and ROSSINI exchanged (exi
messages about establishing a SuperTPAC to support VAZQUEZL's election campaigm, with
HERRERA rcferring 1o Blakeman as a “moessenger boy.”

91, Cn March 3, 2020, HERERRA sent a text message to ROSSINT about the need
for a “campaigm manager,” and how he “didn’t want then to put a monlkey from Poerto
Eico.” ROSSINI responded that the International Consultng Firm would find someone
from Washington, D.C., and that "*[wle need someone that 1s ours.”

&2, On March 3, 2020, ROSSINI emailed International Consuliing IMirm-Parther
2, copying International Consulting 'irm-Partner 1: “T was on the phone with Julio earlicr
today and reinforced his desire/need for an experienced campaign manager working for
Wanda ASAP. He hopes you have or can find a person that he can present to campaign
pronto.”

03, On March 4, 2020, Individual A sent Individual B a screcnshot of a text
mcssage conversation Individual A had with VAZQUEZ's Chicl of Staff. In the sereenshot
of Individual A’z conversation with the Chicf of Staff, Individual A i0ld the Chief nf Staff that
OCTE Commissioner B is the person that will need to be appomted as deputy comunissioner
of QCIF, which Individual A understood would lead to his hecoming acting Commissioner
of OCIF upan OCII Commissioner A's [ast day as Comumdssioner on March 6, 2020, Aficr
sharing the screenshot with lodividuad B, ndividaal A said, transfated from Spamish to
English, 1 sent this to [VAZQUEZ’s Chief of S(all]. Please call him 3o he does i(H11”

94, On March 5, 2020, Individual A wrote in a lext message (0 Indiddual B,
translated fiom Spamsh to English, "Remember to tell [the Chief of Staff] that [OCIIF
Commissioner A] needs @ appoint the deputy commissioner today!t”  Individual B
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responded, translated from Spanish to HEnglish, *[OCHH Commissioner A is not going 1o
appuoint anyone before he leaves,” and then, “[OCIF Commissioner A) expressed that he
knows why he’s being removed.”

Q3. Cn or about March 23, 2020, HERRERA wrote in a texl message o Blakeman,
translated from Spamish to English, “We are continuing with our plan.” HERRERA then
wrote to Blakeman, translated from Spanish to English, T believe that now that no one s
interested in Ocif because of everything clse is the moment! Don't waste the opporidnity,”
and “Speak with the lady.” Blakeman responded that he will be following-up on the matier
and that he believed he would be seemg VAZOUEZ the following day.

96, Om or about March 25, 2020, HERRERA paid the International Consulting
Firm £263,000 GRP, then eguivalend to approximately $315,000, for political research in
connection with the 2020 Puerto Rico gubernatorial clection.

a97. On or abowt March 30, 2020, IIERRERA sent a text message to Blakeman
contaiing  Political Consultant A's restime. HERRERA wroie, “Superpac political
covrdmator!™

g5, Also on or about March 30, 202{, Individual C scnt a text message (o
VAZQUEZ contaming Political Consultant A's resume. Individval C wrote, “Suijcrpac
coordinator,”

49, TIn or around March 2020, HERRER A, ROSSINI, and others hired Political
Consullant A 1o manage the SuperPAC that they agreed io form o support VAZQUEZ, and
conveved to VAZOUEZ tlhvovgh mteinmediaries that they had made this hire.

100, Onor about Aprl 8, 2020, Political Consultant A regstered SuperPAC 1 with

the Federal Flection Commission,
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101 On or about Aprd 8, 2020, Individual C sent a text message o0 VAZQUEZ
contaiming a report prepared by the International Consulting Tirm with the message,
“Crovernor, The fivsk survey 15 in," Attached W the text message was a document prepared
by Internativnai Coensulting I'irm summarizing the results of its pefling and research
conducted 1n Poerto Rico. VAZQUEZ responded to Individoal C that the report "looked
pretiy good.” Individual C laler wrote (0 VAZQUEZ that “[ROSSINI] will contact you to
sct up a video call 1o share the research and next steps.”

102, Onor aboul Aprd 9, 2020, ROSSINI sent Blakeman via text message a report
prepared by the lnlernational Consulung Firm, witl: the message, “T ul;:llz This is the repart by
the London folks. PLEASE DO Jsic] PRIN'T OR SHARE with anyone. Please let me know
when we can speak on this.”

103, On or about April 9, 2020, Blakeman senl a group ext message to Individual
A, Individual B, and Individual 1Y in which he stated that he hoped they were able to review
the report that e had prepared for thern, and that if they looked at 1t dosely, they would see
what the next steps are for the group to follow m the coming months. He then sent the group
a copy of a report prepared by the International Consulting Firm.

104, On or about April 10, 2020, Blakeman followed up with Individual A,
Individual B, and individual TV in 2 group text message and asked if anyone was able to read
the report he sent them the day before. Individual D responded, iranslated from Spanish. to
English, “I'm on 1t.”

105, On oor ahout April 14, 2020, ROSSINT send 2 text message to Blakeman to
inguire whether the Intemnational Consulting Firm's report had been shared with VAZQUEY,
asking if Blakeman “had a chanee to discuss the report with the principal subject.”
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106, Onorabout Apcl 18, 2020, HERRERA sent a texl message 1o Diaz containing
the internet link for SuperPAC I's websile and (wo  documents, ome eniilled
“Why_Act_Now_v!.pdf”, and the sccond entitled, “[SupctPAC I's
initials]_C4 Wiing Instructions. pdf.” HERBRERA subsequently wrote to Diaz, “The ball is
s e lady’s possession,” and 1}az responded in agrcement.

Yazquez Appoints a New Commissioner of OCIF

107, 1o or around March 2020, Blakeman met with VAZQUEZ at Fortaleza and
conveyed HERRERA's and ROSSINEs message that VAZQUEZ needed to appoint OCIIY
Commissioner B before HERRERA would bepgin funding SuperPAC 1.

1. On or about March 30, 202{, HERRERA frwarded to Blakeman a toxt
message that HERBRER A had received from OCIF Comussioner B, D1 his message (o
HERRERA, OCTH Commissioner B stated that he was having difftculty getting in touch with
Forlalera to discoss his possible nomination. QCIY Commissioner B also asked that
HERRERA assist him by rcaching out to [ortaleza to follow-op on the maiter.  After
HERRERA forwarded OCIF Commissioner B's message to Blakeman, Blakeman responded,
translated from Spanish to English, “Perfect!l Twil pass it along immediately ™

132, On or about May 6, 2020, ROSSINI seint Blakeman a text message containing
a docoment titted “Tablang Points” and sugeestions on campaign strategy, which Polificsl
Consultant A had provided to ROSSINL

110, On or about May 6, 20120, ROSSINI wrote in a text message to Blalkeman that
the “PAC will kick into high gear and publicly she can see the PAC's actions and follow
through and expand upon it.” Blakeman responded that e was on as way (o Fortalera.

111, On or about May 6, 2020, ROSSENI wrole in a toxt message 1o HERRERA,
24



“Update. Per [[ndividval C]. dohn is sccing her at 3pr. ['ve been in touch with Johm over the
last hour. ITe is aware.” ROSSINI later informed NNERBIERA via text message that hie had
just received a message from “John™ that “he is on his way to see s friend. | provided him
all the materials, except of course the budget breakdown.”

112, Onor aboat May 6, 2020, Blakeman met with VAZQUEZ at Fortaleza.

113, Onorabout May 7, 2020, ROSSINI sent a text message 10 Blakernan (o iquire
honw Blakeman's meeeting had gone and whether Blakeman had spoken with HERRERA or
Individual C. Blakeman tespornded that he had spoken to Individual C the night before and
that, “[t was a great mecting, This morning they asked me for the number of the proposed
new dircctar of OCTEH. (What Julio necded),” ROSSENT responded, “Fantastic., Great
news,” and forwarded a copy of Blakeman's message to HERRERA,

114.  On or about May 7, 2020, ROSSINI sent Blakeman a text message thal read,
n parl: “Hi John 1 just spoke 1o a mutual friend whom advised that if/ when that gentleman
is installed as the OCIE divector that with 72 hours the *switch will be turned on' and the PAC
will be on the wisland and forging ahead.” ROSSINI then sent that same message (o
HERRERA +with the explanalion, translated from Spanish o English, “What 1 sent.”

115, On or arcund May 7, 2020, Blakeman texted HERBERA to ask for OCII
Commissioner 13's contact information and told HERRERA that OCIF Commissioner B
should cxpect a call between May 7 and May 8.

116, On or about May 12, 2020, ROSSINI sent a text message o Blakeman about
the status of QCIF Commissioner 13's appointment, asking “if the advice provided hias been
implemented.”  Blakeman responded to ROSSINI that “they are inplementing the

recammendations” and “*[tlhe guy for OCTF weni Lo Fortaleza and was interviewed.”
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117, On or about May 12, 2020, ROSSINT forwarded Blakeman's message to
HERRERA regarding OCIF Commussioner B's interview and opmed, “That’s a relicf She
gets it now.” HERRERA responded, “Yes but not with her !l He just meet with the
secretary.” HEBRERA later added, " They are moving but very slow.”

118, On or about May 14, 2020, VAZQUEZ appointed QCIF Commissioner B as
the new Commissioner of OCIF,

119.  On or about May I-ﬁl,_ 2020, ROSSINI seni 3 text message to Blakeman to
inguire aboui the status of the appomument of OCIF Commissioner B, writing, “ITi John. Just
checking i again. [Political Consultant A] is waiting (0 gel there, Hope your friend 1s
foliowing through on the recommendations. .. gracias,”

120, On or about May 14, 2020, m response to ROSSINT's text message asking
whether Blakeman's “friend” was “following through,” Blaleman sent ROSSINI a copy of
VAZQUEZ’s formal announcement appomiing OCIF Cormmissioner B.

121.  On or about May 14, 2020, ROSSINY forwarded to HERRERA, via text
message, the official announcement of OCIT Commissioner [3's appointment, I response,
HERRERA instructed ROSSINI to “iplrepare [Political Consultant Al,” and then, “].ooks
like we arc playing balls.”

122, On or about May 14, 2020, Blakeman sent a iext message to HERRERA
containing & document announcing that VAZQUEZ had sppointed a new OQCIF
Commissioner,

123, On or about May 14, 2020, Individoal D) sent a text message to Blakeman
containing a document amouoncing that VAZQUEZ had appointed a new QCIF

COommissioner.
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124, Om o about May 14, 2020, ROSSINI send a texl message 10 an employee of
ihe International Consuwiting Fiem, “Hi. Sorry for the late houwr, Just got word o ‘prepare

H

[Palitical Consultant Al." Tall tomorrow.” The employee of the International Consulling
I'irm responded, “Prepare for take off7™ ROSSINI replied, “Buckle your scatbelts.”

125, Omn or about May 14, 2020, Individual < congratulated HERRERA m a text
message, “Fially v have power here sir” then informed HERRERA that OCIP
Commissioner B would be confirmed by the Puerte Rico Scnate “as soon as senate i3 in
session.” In response, HERRERA wrote, “amen” and that they should “keep it very ND.”
Individoal C replied that power “wont last” unless it is “always silent.”

AHn viclation of 18 U.5.C. § 371.

COUNT 2
I'ederal Program Bribery
1B US.C. §§ 666(a)(2) and 2
GULIOM, HERRERA VELUTINE and MARK T. ROSSINI

12Z6.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 and 30 through 125 of
this Indictiment are re-alleged and mcorporated 1n this Count as if fully set forth herein.

127, In cach of the calendar years 2019 and 2020, the Commaonwealth of Puerlo
Rico was a territory which recetved more than $10,000 in benefits from the United States
government under federal programs involying grants, subsidics, loans, guaraniees, sirance,
and other forms of assistance.

128, From in or around December 2014 ithrougly in or aroundd May 2020, in the
District of Pucrto Rien and clsewhere, defendants JULE) M. HERRERA VELUTINI and

MARK. T. ROSSINI, did corruptly give, offer, and agree to give things of value, that 1s

thousands of dollars in funding m support of VAZQUEZ's election camipalgn, to VAZQULEZ,
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the Governor and an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Ricn, with the intent of
vifluencmg and rewardmg VAZQUEZ in connection with any business, transaction, and
series of transactions of the Commonwealth of Pucrto Rico valued ai §5,00( or more, to wit:
the termination of GCOIF Commissioner A and the appointment OCIT Conunissioner B.
Allm violation of 18 U.5.C. §§ 668(a)(2} and 2,
COUNT 3
Federal Program Bribery
18 U.S.C, 8§ 066{a) 13(B) and 2
(WANDA VAZOQULEZ GARCED)

129, The allegations contained m paragraphs 1 through 26 and 30 through 125 of
this Indictment are re-aHeged and incorporated in this Count as if fully set forth herein.

130, In each of the calendar years 2019 and 2020, the Commeonwealth of Pucrio
Rico was a territory which received more than $10,084) in benefits fromn the United States
governmend under federal programs nvolving grants, subsidies, loans, guarantees, insurance,
and other forms of assistance.

131, From m or around December 2019 throvgh in or around May 2020, in the
District of Puerto Rico and elsewhere, defendant WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED, (he
Cravernor and an agent of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, did corrupily solicit, demand,
accept, and agree to accepl for her own benefit things of value, that 1s thousands of doflars in
funding in sopport of VAZQUEZ's clection campaign, intending to be mfluenced and
rewarded in connection with any business, (ransaction, and series of transactions of the
Commnonweslth of Puerto Rico valued at $5,000.00 or mare, to wit: the termination of QCIF

Commissioner A and the appointment OCIF Commnissioner B.

All in violation of 18 11.8.C. §§ 666(a) 1)(B) and 2.
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COUNT 4
Honest Services Wire Fraud
I8 TI.5.C. §8 1343, 1346, and 2
(WANDA VAZOQUEZ GARCED, JULIO M. HERRERA VELUTIN]L and MARK T,
ROSSING

132. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 and 30 through 123 of
this Indictment are re-alleged and incovporated in this Count as if fully set Forth herein,

133, Begimnmg in or around December 2019 and until or about May 2020, 1n the
Mhstict of Puerto Rico and elsewhere, defendants WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED, JULIO
M. IIERRERA VEEUTINI, MARK T. ROSSINI, and others known and unknown to the
Crrand Jury, devised and intended o devise 4 scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the
citizens of Puerto Rico of their right to the honest services of a public official, namecly the
homnest services of YVAZQUEZ, the Governor of Puerio Rico, through bribery and kickbacks.

134. On or about April 14, 2020, in the Dhstrict of Puerto Rico and elsewhere, the
defendants VAZQUEZ, ITERRERA and ROSSINI, aided ancd abetted by each other and by
others knoewn and unknown to the Crrand Jury, baving devised and mtended .m dewise the
above-described scheme and artifice to defrand and deprive, by means of material false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and for the purpose of exceuting the
above-described scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive, transnited and caused to be
transmitted by means of wire communication m interstate commerce, any writings, signs,
signals, protures, and sounds, to wit: a wire transfor of $40,000 frorm an account endg in
6324 held at Chase Bank to an account endmyg in 4246 held at FNC Bank.

Allm viclation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1348, and 2.
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COUNT 5
ConspHIacy
18 U.S.C §371
{JULICY M. HERRERA VEI.UTINL

135, The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 of (his .[ndic.‘l.mf?.nt Are re-
alleged and meorporated m thas Cownt as if fulky set forth herem.

136. Inthe calendaryear of 20021, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico was a terzitory
which received more than $10,000 in benefits from the United States govermment under
federal programs involving grants, subsidics, loans, guaraniecs, insurance, and other forms of
assistance.

137, Frominoraround Aprit 2021 through m or around August 2021, n the Districe
of Puerta Rico and clsewhere, defendant JULIQ M, HERRERA VELUTINI did knowingly
and willfully canspirc and agree with others, both known and unknowi to the Grand Jury, to
commit offenses against the United States, inclodng:

a) 1o cortupily give, offer, and agree to give things of value, that 1s at least $25,000 in
funding in support of Public Official A’s election campaign, to Public Official A, an
agent of the Commonwealih of Puerto Rico, with the mtent of influencing and
rewarding Public Official A in conncction with any business, ansaclhion, and seres
of transactions of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico valued at $5,000 or more, to wit:
the resolution of the QCIF examination of The Bank op tenns favorable to and
specified by The Bank, m violation of 18 U.5.C, § 666(a)(2}, and

b) towilifully violaic the Bank Seerecy Act, specifically, 31 U.S.C. §§ 5318 and 5322, and
regulations 1ssued thereunder, namely 31 CF.R. § 1020.320, by not filing with the
United States Department of Treasury required reports of saspicious aclivity, 1n

violation of 31 U.5.C. §8 5318(y); 5322; and 31 C.F.R. § 1020.320.
10



Purposes of the Conspiracy

138. The purposes of the conspiracy included, but were not limited to, the following:

a) for HERRERA, Diaz, Blakeman, and others, known and unknown to the m
?t-a:ls, to offer bribes in the form of things of value, including payments to SuperPAC
2 to support Public Official A’s election, intending that the bribes be in exchange for
Public Official A directing and exerting influence on public officials to resolve the
OCIF examination of The Bank on terms favorable to The Bank: and

b) for HERRERA, Diaz, Blakeman and others, both known and unknown, to enrich
themselves and The Bank by corruptly obtaining favorable treatment by OCIF,
including the resolution of the OCIF examination of The Bank on terms favorable to
The Bank and the determination that The Bank was not required to file SARs, in

accordance with the BSA, for certain transactions conducted at The Bank.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

139.  After VAZQUEZ lost the primary election in or around August 2020,
HERRERA financially supported the gubernatorial campaigns of both Public Official A and
Public Official A's opponent in the general election. Public Official A won the general
election in November 2020. After the general election, HERRERA and his co-conspirators,
including Blakeman and Diaz, attempted to bribe Public Official A with financial political
support in exchange for a specific act, to wit: Public Official A directing and exerting influence
on certain public officials at OCIF in a manner benefitting HERRERA.

140. Specifically, between approximately April 2021 and approximately August
2021, HERRERA and his co-conspirators gave, offered, and promised things of value
intended for Public Official A, including payments to SuperPAC 2, through Witness 1 (who
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represented himself to be an intermediary of Public Official A), truending that they be in
exchange for Public Official A directing and exerting influenice on public officials (o resolve
QCIF's exammation of The Bank in a manner favorable to The Bank, In fact, Wimess T was
operating at the direction of law enforcement officials, was not actually serving as an
intermediary of, or acting on behalf of, Public Official A, and made statements to Blakeman
and Diaz to futher the undercover investigation.

141. Additionally, HERRERA and his co-conspirators sought to have Public
Oificial A direct and exert indluence on other public officials to ensure that The Bank would
1ot have to enter mito an agreement with OCIF acknowledging violations of the BSA, and
that I'hc Bank would nol have 1o file SARs fur certain transactions conducted at The Bank.

142, Acting on bhehali of HERRERA, Dhaz and Blakeman mel wilh purported
associates of Public Official A, ncluding Witness 1, in the District of Puerto Rico. During
these mectings, they discussed HERRERA's specific requests regarding the resolution of
QCIF's examnation of The Banlk in exchange for HERRERA's donations to SuperPAC 2,
which prmcipally supported Public Official A,

143. HERRERA and Iiis co-conspirators secrelly cormmunicated with each other via
text message, email, and internet-based messaging applications, and during in-person
meelings, 0 discuss aspects of the agreement to pay bribes to influence the OCIE
cxamination.

144, HERRERA and his co-conspirainrs atlempted to conceal their bribe payments
to mfluence the OCTL examination as donations to SuperPAC 2 n order to conceal the illogal

and cormupt pirpose of the payments.
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Overt Acts in Fartherance of the Conspiracy

The Meeting al The Bank

145, On or about April 23, 2021, HERBRERA wrofe In « text message to Diaz,
translated fiom Spansh to English, “The office of the commissioner must be purged ™

146, On or aboul April 29, 2021, Diaz wrote m a text message 10 HERRERA,
translated fvom Spanish to English, “Suriy for the late hour but a meeting has just come up
wmaorrow Al & am with the people of the govemor.” HERIERA responded by sending a
Frrayime* emoji, writing “Amen,” and “You know what to do.”

147, On oor about April 229, 2021, HERRERA wrote in a text message o Diaz,
franslated from Spanish to English, “the snalee must be killed by its ead.” [Miaz responded,
translated from Spanish to linglish, *There is no other way."”

148. On or about April 30, 2021, Blakeman and Diaz met with Wihiness 1, whom
they understood to be a fundraiser for Public Official A, alung with several other mdividuals
whose identities are known to the Grand Jury, at The Bank's office in 5an Juan, Puerto Rico,
to discuss OCIF's exammnation of The Bank, Dwring the meeting, Diaz communicated to
Witness 1 the four objectives ihat HERRERA and The Bank wished to accomplish: 1) that
The Bank would not need to sign a Memorandum of Understanding’ with OCIF regarding
The Bank's deficicncics; 2) that The Bank would not nced to (ile SARs for certain transaciions
mvolving bank accounts and eatities owned or controlled by HERRERA; 33 that OCTF's
cxamination of The Bank would end on terms favorable to 'Uhe Bank; and 4) that certan

employees of QOCIF would be remaved frony thewr positions.

* A Memorandum of Understanding hetween QU3 and 'Uhe Bank wonld likely have required The
Bank 1o acknowledge delictencies in its ant-money lnundering/B5SA policies and practices.
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149 On or about May 3, 2021, Winess 1 called Diaz and told Diaz that he had an
upcoming mecting with Public Official A and wanied to confivm The Bank’s {owr requests
with regard to OCIF. Witness 1 asked Diaz to prioritize The Bank's requests, and Diaz
responded that The Bank’s priorities were that they not be required (0 sign a Memorandum
of Understanding with OCIF and that they not be reguired to file SARs for certain
ransaciions involving bank accounts and entities owned or controlled by HERRERA.

150, On or about May 4, 2021, az wroic in a iexl message to HERRERA,
transiated from Spanish o English, “The gentleman just wants to clanfy some questions
about the priorities with respect to what we want.”

155, On orabout May 11, 2021, Blakeman had a follow-up meeting with Witness 1
concerning The Bank's requests regarding OCIY. During the meeting and o {urther the
undercover myestigation, Withess [ told Blakeman that Public Official A could deliver on
three of The Bank's four requests with a single phaone call; 13 that The Bank would not need
to s OCTE's Memorandum of Understanding: 2) that The Bank would not need to file
SARs for HERRERA's banking transactions; and 3) that the OCIF examination would be
resolved on terms favorable to The Bank., When Wimess 1 reminded Blakeman that
everything they discussed “needs to stay here” (iranslated from Spanish to English),
Blakeman agreed.

152, During the May 11, 2021 meeting, Wilness | old Blakeiman that Wimess 1
heard that HERRERA had previously offered to make a political donation benefiiting Public
Official A, To further the undercover investigation, Wilness 1 suggested (o Blakeman that
HERRERA could make a donation in cxchange for Public Official A fulfilling The Bank's
requests, Blakeman responded that Witness 1 could count ot HERRERA's comamtment to
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donate money as long as The Bank's requests were satisficd,

153, On or about May 12, 2021, Blakeman sent Witness 1 a text message asking if
Witness 1 had been able to discuss the matter with “the boss,” referming to Public Official A.
As part of and to further the undercover investigation (even though no such communication
had taken place), Witness 1 responded that he had, and thal he wouwld follow up with Public
Official A regarding the timeling {or accomplishing three of The Bank’s four objectives. In
the same conversation, Witness 1 reminded Blakerman “lo give me a hand with the
contribution,”

The bMeeting in Guaynabo

154, Between May 18 and May 24, 2021, Diar and Wilness 1 exchanged text
messages for the purposc of coordmatimyg another in-person meeting to discuss 'The Bank’s
requests to mifuence the OCIF examination.

155, On or about May 27, 2021, Blakeman and Diaz met with Whness 1 al a
restaurant in Guaynabo, Puerto Rico, to discuss HERRERA and The Bank's requests o
influcnee the OCIF examination. Donng the meeting, Witness 1 discussed an agreement
with Blakeman and Dlaz for a $50,000 pagment (o benefit Public Official A, mtending that
the payment be in exchange for Public Official A directing and exerting influcnce on public
officials to cause three of the four objectives that 'T'he Bank wished to accomplish: 1) that The
Bank would not need to sign a Memorandum of Understanding with OCIF regarding The
Bank's deficicncics; 2) that 'The Bank would not need to file SARs for certain transactions
mvolvirg bank accounts and entitics owned or controlled by HERRERA and 3} that OCIF's
exanmnation of The Bank would end on terms favorabie o The Bank.

156, Durmg the May 27, 2021 mecting, Witness 1 ostated that HERRERA,
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[3takeman, and Diaz should let Witness | know when they were ready 1o make a payment io
support Pubhic Official A, As part of and to further the undercover mvestigation, Witness 1
represenied that at that point, Pablic Official A could move forward with The Bank's requests
with respect to OCIFF. [daz and Blakeman each responded that they were already at that
point.

157, At the May 27, 2021 meetbyg, 1n response to Witness 15 gquestion about
whether HERRERA was aware of what Witmess 1, Diaz, and Blakeman were discussing,
Thax responded that HERRERA was knowledgealle of what Diarz and Blakeman were
refiesting.

158, During the May 27, 2021 mecting, Witness 1 stated, translated from Spanish
to English, that what they were discussing “cannor leave this rable” and stressed that they
must emphasize 1o HERBRERA the need for secrecy. Blakeman responded by acknowledgg
the need for secrecy, and later stated that it wouldd not be convement for The Bank if it was
known “that Fortalcza is intervening in any way,”

159, Atthe May 27, 2021 meeting, Wimess 1 told Blakeman and Diaz that he would
send Blakeman (he instructions for wiring the money that The Bank was pledging for Public
Official A. When Witness 1 indicated that he did not like to talk or text about “this” on the

1

phone, Biae responded, translaled from Spanish o English, “Bxactly,” and then, “One

(k]

doesn’t know who might be listening.

The Wirmg of the Bribe Paymeit

160,  Tn or around May or Junc 2021, 1Jiaz informed HERRERA of Witness 1's
representation that m exchange for HERRERA's 350,000 payment to SuperPAC 2, Public
Offictal A would ensure that 1} The Bank would not nesd to sign a2 Memorandum of
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Understanding with OCIIY 2} The Bank wouvld not need o file SAKs [or cortain transactions,
aied 3} OCIFs exarminaton of The Bank would be resobved on terms favorable to The Bank.

161, On or about May 28, 2021, Witness 1 sent Blakeman wvia texl message the
wiring mstructions for the account mto which The Bank's monetary payvment to benefit Public
(MTicial A should be deposited.

162, OmnoraboutJune 9, 2021, Witness I met with Blakeman at a restavrant in San
Juan, Puerto Rico, During the mecting, and in frtherance of the mveshgation, Witness |
told Blakeman that Fublic Official A asked Witness 1 to confirm with Blakeman that,
translated fi:om Spanish to Enghsh, “thew commitment is still on." Blakeman confimed that
“the commitment is still on.™

163, Dwuring the meeting on June 9, 2021, Blakeman told Witness [, translated from
Spanish to Lnglish, “they need a light from the commissioner that says “we are working on
it Later in the conversation, Witness 1 told Blakeman, translated from Spanish to English,
that Witness |would try o got Blakeman “a sign that everything is all right.”

164, On or about June 9, 2021, HERRTRA asked Diav in a text message if there
was anylhing new, Diax respongded that she was watling for Blakeman 1o finish lunch with
“a friend.” Later that day, Diaz informed HERRERA in a text message, translated from
Spamish (o Fnglish, “He already cafled me...they need help but we reiterated that it will be
after what we are waiting for happens.” In response, translated from Spanish to English,
HERRERA wrote, "1000% Committed,” and then, ©.. paid music does ot play,” a figure of
speech meanmmg that one should not pay for something before recerving it

105, Onfunc 9, 2021, Blakeman sent a text message in Witness |, telling Witness |

that the current OCIF Commassioner needed to call The Bank for a meeting and to sign an
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agreement, which “witl be usefid (o J wlio for what we spoke about,” transkated from Spanish
to English,

66, OnJune 10, 2021, Diaz asked Blakeman whether Witness T had responded to
Blakeman., When Blalkeman said Witness 1 had not, 1as asked if Blakeman could call
Wimess 1 because HERRERA told her that, translated from Spanish o Foglish, a “pand
musician doesn’t play.”

167, OnJune L1, 2021, acting at the direction of law caforcement, an QOCIF offictal
called Ulaleman to inform Blakeman thal the official himself/ herself was duectly addressing
Blakeman's concerns. After receiving the call, Blakeman wrote in a text message 10 Wilness
1, translated from Spanish to Hoglish, “Call received!! Super. T already told Frances. It's latc
for Julio but I'll call him tomorrow.”

168. Im or around July 2021, HERRERA agreed to make a $25,000 payment to
SuperPAC 2

109, On or about July 20, 2021, Blakeman sent a text message to Witness 1 which
read, translated from Spanish to English, “Greetings! Where do | send the half of what we
talked about?” Winess 1 responded, translated from Spanish to English, “Hil T thought that
this agreement had been forgoiten, ['m happy to know that's not the case,” and sent Blakeman
a screenshot of superPAC 2's bank account information.

170, On or about July 21, 2021, Ddaz wrote in a text message io HERRERA,
translated from Spanish to English, “Tello, the payment we are talking about is a super pac,
Therefore, the money can be sent.”  The followmy moming, HERRERA responded,
translated from Spanish 1o English, “perfect.”

171 Onorabout July 22, 2021, Haz asked HERRERA 1n a text message, “tell me
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what account please,” and ITERRERA respanded, “Tt will he that we can send 1t from my
persondl account from London.”

172, Om or abouwt August 10, 2021, Diaz sent an email to The Bank’'s Accounting
Manager, translated froon Spanish to Enghish, *|[lease ransfer $25 thousand from Mr.
Herrera's account to the holding account, Mr. ITerrera alrcady authorized the same,” wih
HERRERA carbon copied to the email.

173, Onorabout August 10, 2021, the Senior Viee President of 'Uhe Banle's Treasiury
Department sent an cmait o a Bank employvee which read, wanslated from Spanist to
English, “Per [the Accounting Manager's] instructions, please issue a payment from the [The
Bank’s] Holding account at Fustbank for the amount of $25000 with the coordinaics
indicated in the attached document” 'The attached document was the bank account
mformation for SuperPAC 2.

174.  On or about Angost 10), 2021, an employee of The Bank caused $25 000 to be
transferred from The Bank's FirstBank of Puerto Rico account io an account held by
SupcrPAC 2,

All i violation of 18 1U1.5.C. § 371,

COUNT 6
Federal Program Bribery
18 D50 88 606{a}(2} and 2
{(JULIO M. HERRERA VELUTINTI}

175, T'he alegatinns contained in paragraphs 1 through 26 and 138 through 174 of
this Indictment are re-alleged and meorporated i this Count as if fully sct forth herein,

176, In the calendar year of 2021, the Comvmonwealth of Puerto Tuco was a territory

which received more than $10,000 1n benefits from the United States government nnder

federal programs invelving grants, subsidics, 1oans, gnaraniees, insurance, and vther furms of
30



e e T Mt IRt rees e e e

assislance,

177, T'romin orarcund April 2021 throwgh in or around Angust 2021, in the Disirict
of Puerto Rico and elsewhere, defendant JULIO M. HERRERA VELUTINI did comruptly
give, offer, and agree to give a thing of valuc, that is at Teast $25,000 in funding in support of
Public Official A's election campalgn, to any person hitending to influence and reward Poblic
Official A, an agent of the Commonwealtth of Puerto Rico, in connection with any business,
wansaction, and serles of transacaons of the Commonwealth of Pucrio Kico valued at $35,000
or more, (o wit: the resolution of the OCIF audit of The Bank on terims favorable to and
specified by The Bank.

All in violation of 18 U.8.C. §§ 666¢a)(2) and 2.

Honest Services Wire Fraud
1B UF.S.C. 8§ 1343, 1346, and 2
(JULTO M. HERRERA VELLFINI

178, The allegations contained m paragraphs 1 through 26 and 138 throogh 174 of
this Indictment arc re-alleged and mcorporated i this Count as if fully set forth herein.

179, Beginning in or around Aprit 2021 and until or abont August 2021, in the
District of Puerto Rico and elsewhere, defendant JULIO M, HERRERA VELUTINI, and
others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, devised and intended o devise a scheime and
artifice Lo detraud and deprive the citizens of Puerto Rico of their right to the honest services
of a public official, namely the honest services of Public Oflicial A, the Governor of Puerto
Raco, through bribery and kickbacks,

180,  On or about Aogust 10, 2021, in the District of Puerin Rico and elsewhere, the

defendant BERRERA, aided and abetted by others known and unkaown to the Grand Jury,

having devised and intended to devise the above-described scheme and artifice 10 defraud aned
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deprive, by mcans of material false and fravdolent pretenses, represeniations, and promises,
and for the purpose of excouting the above-described scheme and artifice to defraud and
deprive, [ransmilled and caused to be transmitted by means of wire commumication in
interstate commeree, any wrilings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, 0 wit, a wire transfer
of 23,000 from an account ending m 763 held at MirstBank Puerto Rico to account ending
in 0116 held at Citibank,

All in violation of 18 U.5.C. §§ 1343, 153448, and 2.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
28 U.S.C.§ 2461(ch; 18 U.8.C. § 981(a)(1UC)

(8], The preceding paragraphs of this [ndictment ave re-alleged and incorporated in
this Allegation,

182, Pugsuantto 28 U.S.C. §2401{cyand 18 U.S.C. § 981{)(13(C), the United States
gives notice 10 the defendants JULIO M. HERRERA VELUTINI, MARK T. ROSSING,
and WANDA VAZQUEZ GARCED hat in the event of a conviction for an offense charged
in Counts Onc through Seven of this Indictment, all property, real or personal, which
tepresents or 15 fraceable to the gross reecipts obtained, directly or indirectly, from such
onffense, is subject to forfeiture.

Money Judgment

183, Iefendants are notified that wpon conviction, a money judgment may be
mmpased equal to the total value of the properily subject to forfeiture,

Substitnic Agsels

184, Defendants are notified that if property subjeci 1o forfeiture, as a resolt of any

act or omission of Defendants,

a. cannot be located upon the exereise of due diligence;
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b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or

e. has been commingled with other property that cannot be divided

without difficulty,

the United States will seek to forfeit any other property of Defendant up to the total value of

the property subject to forfeiture pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p), as incorporated by reference

in 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) and 18 U.S.C. § 982(b)(1).
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